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The bullding is a railroad passanger terminal for eight
tracks abutting a freight terminal and trainshed that are
not included in this nomination. The terminal stretches for
212 feet along Polk Street where its principal facade faces
north., Wings project to the south along Plymouth Place (where

extensive original paving survives) on the east and Federal -

Street on the west. -~ ..

The terminal is of masonry construction with cast iron
structural elements and resting on spread footings. The
exterior masonry is a combination of pink granite, red brick,
and red ornamental terra cotta, all enriched with cut and cast
mouldings and details.

The terminal building is organized into four elements.

Two are the three-story corner blocks. The third is a two
story (now three story¥ recessed central section, and the last
is a high clock tower. The eastern corner block was originally
the entrance to the terminal waiting rooms and is larger than
the west corner block. It had four arches on its east face

and three on its north face. The tower is set west of the
center of the recessed central section, relieving the building
of monotony arising from symmetry and allowing the height of
the tower to balance the larger mass of the eastern corner
block.

The walls rest on a rusticated granite sill that varies in
height. It has one stone above grade along the central section
and western corner block, becomes a half story high on the
eastern corner block, and rises to one and a half stories under
the clock tower. The masonry above this base is of common
bond pressed brick with occasional horizontal bands defining
string courses and with cornices of ornamental terra cotta.
Arched openings appear on the first and third floors, and
rectangular openings framed by moulded bricks are used on the
second floor.

Originally, the roofing consisted of independent roof
structures on each of the four sections. Hipped roofs appeared
above each corner block, a gabled roof on the central section,
and a steep, . broken pitched Flémish Gothic roof on the tower.
The roofs were ornamented with horizontal bands of different
colored slates and by dormer windows. The dormers were
triangular in shape and contained an arched window.

The most striking feature of the bullding is its clock
tower which makes the building highly vislble at the foot of
Dearborn Street. Above its limestone base a simple brick

shaft ascends far above the roof line. The shaft has an
arched window near the bottom, three sets of slit windows along
its height, and a grouping of three windows on each face just
below a bracketed cornice. Above this 1s a rectangular
block containing the clock set within a highly textured
field; this was originally topped by the roof.

The interior originally contained fireplaces and other

ornate and useful appointments. The main waiting room is in
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the central section and contains an open well between the first
and second floors.

PRESENT CONDITION

On December 21, 1922, a fire swept through the upper
portions of the building. Within a matter of weeks the
engineering department of the Santa Fe Railroad had completed
the necessary rebuilding, basing its.design on that of Solon
S. Beman's Grand Central Station (1889-90; destroyed),
according to the railroad's magazine (The Santa Fe Magazine,
vol. XVII, no. 3, 1923, p. 35). The roofs on the corner
blocks and tower were replaced with flat ones not visible from
the ground, thus depriving the building of its dramatic
massing. The central two story section was given an additional
story that repeated the design of the floor below; it too
was given a flat roof. This addition had the effect of produc-
ing a more compact sense of mass for the building that is very
much in keeping with its masonry forms and helps to compensate
for the loss of the high roofs.

Other alterations have been less consequential. The
portcochere that originally appeared only before the east
corner block has been extended across the the front to the
western corner block and along the east face of the western
block. During an entrance remodeling in 1946 the ground floor
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was altered but without substantial loss to the fabric. The
arches remain, although they have been bricked up. The entire
interior has been remodelled, but the two story space of the
waiting room remains, as does the ornate stair railing of the
clock tower.
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= ISTATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE . :

The terminal building is a superb example of nineteenth
century Victorian architecture in the Romanesque style. 1Its
architect, Cyrus L.W. Eidlitz (1853-1921), a prominent archi-
tect in Buffalo &nd in New York City who specialized in
commercial buildings, hdd been a collaborator with Henry H.
Richardson on the New York State Capitol in Albany. This
i1s his only work in Chicago, and one of his best works anywhere,

Romanesque  architecture of the period is rare in build-
ings of this size and prominence in the Chicago area only
because many others have been destoryed. The original building
was excellent in design, revealing the best of balance, mass,
and vigor that the style could muster. The present building,
while less striking than the original structure, is nonetheless
a very good example of the style and good in itself. The
statement of Montgomery Schuyler, an architectural critic of
the period, remains valid despite the 1922 alterations: it is
"architecturally by much the best station and one of the
ornaments of the city." .

It remains an ornament to the city, clearly visible from
the Loop at the end of Dearborn Street, one of Chicago's
prrincipal streets. Urbanistically, it helps to tie together
the commercial Loop area with the area to the south. As a
link between the two areas and as a tie between the past and
the future, the station is indispensible.

It is the oldest surviving railroad terminal in Chicago,

_ and one of the oldest major railroad terminals surviving in

i the United States. (It is not now used for passanger traffic.)
While the Santa Fe was the principal road using it, others
included the Wabash, the Erie, and the C & O,

It is the oldest surviving remnant in the central area of
Chicago that can call attention to the role railroads and the
commerce they carried, both in package goods and passangers,
played in the development of Chicago, a city built by the
railroads and the railroad capital of the country.
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Montgomery Schuyler, "Cyrus L.W. Eidlitz," Architectural

Record, V (April-June, 1896), pp. 411-435.
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As the des ignated State Liaison Officer for the Na-
tional Historic Preservation Act of 1966 (Public Law
89-665), I hereby nominate this property for inclusion
in the National Register and certify that it has been
evaluated according to the criteria and procedures set
forth by the National Park Service. The recommended
level of significance of this nomination is:
' National [] State  [] Lecal {7
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1 hereby certily that this property is included in the

Netional Register.

Director, Oftice of Archeology and Historic Preservation

Dute
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Keepee of The National Register
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